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Gentlemen:

RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF VIOLATION

NRC INSPECTION REPORT NOS. 50-272 & 311/93-08 AND 50-354/93-06
SALEM AND HOPE CREEK GENERATING STATIONS

DOCKET NOS. 50-272, 50-311 AND 50-354

Public Service Electric and Gas Company (PSE&G) received the
identified Inspection Report on May 6, 1993. This inspection
transmitted a Notice of Violation citing failure to properly
implement the requirements of 10CFR50.59 (b) (1).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10CFR2.201, PSE&C hereby submits
its response to the Notice of Violation.

Should you have any questions on this transmittal, please contact

us.

Sincerely,
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Mr. T. T. Martin, Administrator - Region I
U. 8. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

475 Allendale Road

King of Prussia, PA 19406

Mr. J. C. Stone, Licensing Project Manager - Salem
U. 8. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

One White Flint North

11555 Rockville Pike

Rockville, MD 20852

Mr. S. Dembek, Licensing Project Manager - Hope Creek
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

One White Flint North

11555 Rockville Pike

Rockville, MD 20852

Mr. T. P. Johnson (S809)
USNRC Senior Resident Inspector

Mr. K. Tosch, Manager, IV

NJ Department of Environmental Protection
Division of Environmental Quality

Bureau of Nuclear Engineering

CN 415

Trenton, NJ 08625



ATTACHMENT

10CFR50.59 (B) (1) states, in part, that records of changes to
the facility as described in the Updated Final Safety Analysis
Report (UFSAR)"™...must include a written safety evaluation wh'ch
provides the basis for the determination that the change, test,
or experiment does not involve an unreviewed safety question."

Contrary to the above, the licensee made the following changes to
the facility as described in the UFSAR and did not provide
written safety evaluations providing the basis for a
determination that an unreviewed safety guestion was not
involved.

Hope Creek Deficiency Report HTE 92-230 documented a
use-as-is disposition for unqualified gauges in the gland
seal portion of the High Pressure Coolant Injection (HPCI)
system. including changing the normal position of the
isolation valves for these gauges from open to closed, which
changed the facility as described in UFSAR Figure 6.3.2
because it shows the gauges within the safety-related
boundary and the isolation valves as being normally open.

2. Salem Unit 1 Temporary Modification TMR 92-031 provided
temporary power from the 1C vital bus (normal power is from
the 1B vital bus) to the Salem 1 No.12 Auxiliary Building
Fan, which changed the facility as described in Tables
8.3-2, 8.3~3, and Figure 8.3-4A in the UFSAR.

3. Salem Unit 2 Temporary Modification TMR 92-043 installed a
temporary blank flange in the Service Water system upstream
of manual isolation valve 225W414, which changed the
facility as shown on Figure 9.2-1B in the UFSAR.

PUBLIC SERVICE ELECTRIC AND GAS COMPANY (PSE&G) DOES NOT DiISPUTE
THAT A VIOLATION OCCURRED. T-MOD TMR 92-031 does not comply with
10CFR50.59 requirements. PSE&C has concluded that the other two
examples cited are in compliance with industry guidance, plant
specific guidance, and 10CFR50.59 requirements.

As discussed during the inspection, we are in the process of
revising our Administrative Procedure (NAP-59) on 10CFR50.59. We
pian to review all of the insrector comments contained in the
inspection report, to determine if additional
clarification/guidance is appropriate. Any identified
enhancements will be incorporated prior to procedure issuance.

We provide the following clarification and explanation for the
three examples cited.






because the gauges were not identified on the Figure as
non-Q. However, these valve/gauge combinations fit the
description and intent of this Note and it should apply to
them. A UFSAR change notice has been initiated to correct
Figure 6.3.2.

The 10CFR50.59 applicability review for DR HTE 92-230 did
not reference UFSAR Table 3.2-1 and its notes indicating
that the subject gauges are Quality Group D (i.e., non-
safety related). This omission may have hindered the stand
alone capability of the 10CFR50.59 applicability review.
The original 10CFR50.59 applicability review was

revised to include a reference to UFSAR Table 3.2-1, and a
statement indicating that Figure 6.3-2, Note 8 applies to
these gauge root valves.

In conclusion, the correct UFSAR description (Table 3.2-1)
indicates that these valves are non-safety related. This
classification has been confirmed with the vendor. PSE&G's
MMIS has been revised to indicate that these pressure gauges
are non-safety related. Note 8 of UFSAR Figure 6.3-2
applies to these valve/gauge combinations. Thus, the normal
position of the gauge root valves is closed except when
taking readings. PSE&G concludes that the 10CFR50.59
applicability review correctly categorized the use of
non-safety related gauges as no change to the facility as
described in the SAR.

Salem Unit 1 Temporary Modification (T-Mod) TMR 92-031
provided temporary power from the 1C Vital Bus to 12
Auxiliary Building Supply Fan (normal power is from 1B Vital
Bus). This T-Mod was similar to a previous T-Mod, TMR
92-005, which provided temporary power from the 1C Vital Bus
te 12 Fuel Handling Building Exhaust Fan, No.1 Battery Room
Exhaust Fan, and No.l1l Radiation Monitor Sample Pump (normal
power is from 1B Vital Bus).

The same engineer processed both T-Mods. TMR 92-005 was
evaluated as a change to the facility as described in the
SAR; it received SORC review and approval. The author
believed that TMR 92-031 involved the same issues and
referenced the previous T-Mod (TMR 92-005; for a discussion
of cable separation concerns. A copy of TMR 92-005 was
attached to TMR 92~031. Since TMR 92-005 was SORC approved
with no USQ identified, the author surmised that he could
reference the previous T-Mod and disposition TMR 92-031 as
no change to the facility as described in the SAR.

This conclusion is clearly incorrect. Each 50.59 review
must be independently completed.









